RECEIVED

Oct 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Unpublished Op. No. 2025-UP-295 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 13, 2025)
Appellate Case No. 2022-000346

Reid Fleming, Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

The Planet Vape, LLC; SCECIGARETTE, LLC; LG Chem
Ltd.; John Doe Distributor #1; John Doe Distributor #2; and
John Doe Distributor #3 Defendants,

Of which LG Chem Ltd. is the Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

RICHARDSON THOMAS, LLC

By: *s/Chris Moore*
Chris Moore (SCB: 77934)
383 W. Cheves St.
Florence, SC 29501
T: 803.281.8147

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding Fleming did not establish a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction over LG Chem where LG Chem does not dispute it placed the battery in the stream of commerce and knew its battery was being sold for this purpose?
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351 (2021), by requiring a causal link between LG Chem's in-state conduct and the battery at issue?
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals' misapplied this Court's decision in *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), by failing to attribute minimum contacts to LG Chem where LG Chem does not dispute significant and regular lithium-ion battery business in South Carolina?
- IV. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in failing to analyze the fairness prong of the due-process test?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history:

This appeal arises from a product liability suit that was dismissed by the trial court for want of personal jurisdiction. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision dismissing Mr. Fleming's (Appellant) claims against Respondent LG Chem, Ltd., a South Korean battery manufacturer that is part of the multinational LG conglomerate.

Fleming is a South Carolina resident. (R. p. 17.) He purchased a rechargeable lithium-ion battery he alleged was designed and manufactured by LG. (R. p. 21 ¶ 22.) Fleming purchased the battery in South Carolina. (R. p. 21 ¶ 20.) The battery was purchased for use in Fleming's vaping device. (R. p. 21 ¶ 26.) Fleming alleges LG's battery experienced a failure due its defective nature

and that the failure resulted in an explosion that caused him severe burn injuries. (R. pp. All of Fleming’s contacts with the product – the purchase, use, and failure of the subject battery – occurred in South Carolina.

On April 21, 2021, Fleming filed his complaint against LG, John Doe Distributors #1-3, and retail sellers The Planet Vape, LLC and SC E-Cigarette, LLC. (R. pp. 17–29.) LG moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction on July 15, 2021. (R. pp. 30-39, 46-67.) Fleming filed his memorandum in opposition with exhibits on January 10, 2022. (R. pp. 70-386.) The circuit court held a hearing on January 18, 2022. (R. pp. 537-579.) On February 7, 2022, the circuit court granted LG’s motion and dismissed LG for lack of specific jurisdiction. (R. pp.3-13.) The circuit court denied Fleming’s motion to reconsider on February 23, 2022. (R. pp. 14–16.)

Fleming timely appealed the circuit court’s decision on March 21, 2022. (R. p. 1.) On April 19, 2022, Fleming filed a motion to certify the case to the South Carolina Supreme Court because the lower court’s decision was in conflict with numerous other circuit court orders. This Court denied the motion on May 17, 2022.

The parties submitted briefs and the Court of Appeals heard argument June 3, 2025. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court in an unpublished, split decision filed August 13, 2025, from which Judge Hewitt dissented.

Facts material to consideration of the questions presented:

LG’s lithium-ion batteries are well-known and popular batteries that are extensively used by the vaping community to power vaping devices, or e-cigarettes. (R. p. 21 ¶ 23.) LG claims it does not intend for consumers to use its lithium-ion batteries with such devices; however, it is well aware its batteries are used for such purpose. *See, e.g., Sullivan v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 79 F.4th 651, 670 (6th Cir. 2023); *LG Chem Am., Inc. v. Morgan*, 670 S.W.3d 341, 343–44 (Tex. 2023); *Dilworth*

v. LG Chem, Ltd., 355 So. 3d 201, 210–11 (Miss. 2022); *LG Chem, Ltd. v. Lemmerman*, 361 Ga. App. 163, 863 S.E.2d 514 (2021); *Williamson v. Pirates Cove Vapor Lounge, LLC, et. al*, 2019-CP-07-02270 (June 21, 2021), (R. pp. 256-65); *Holtzendorff v. Vapor Tek USA, LLC, and LG Chem Ltd.*, 2018-CP-0201518 (May 6, 2020), (R. pp. 266-67); *Roberts v. Planet Vape, LLC, et. al*, 2020-CP-10-00912 (Dec. 17, 2020), (R. pp. 268-70).

Fleming alleges he purchased LG’s rechargeable lithium-ion batteries from retail stores The Planet Vape, LLC and SC E-Cigarette, LLC in Charleston, South Carolina for use in his vaping device. (R. p. 21 ¶ 20.) On May 24, 2018, one of the LG batteries exploded in his pants pocket, causing severe burns requiring hospitalization, and resulting in permanent physical and mental damage. (R. p. 22 ¶¶ 31–35.) Fleming alleges the batteries were a particular sized lithium-ion battery – size 18650 – and that it was designed, manufactured, and distributed by LG. (R. pp. 21 ¶ 22.)

LG is a battery making subsidiary of the LG Corporation or LG Group, a South Korean multinational conglomerate parent. (R. pp.75-76.) LG itself has (or had) U.S. subsidiaries, including LG Chem America, Inc., which conducts “sales and trading” and is authorized to do business in South Carolina. (R. pp. 97–99, 244.) Fleming alleged that LG transacts business in South Carolina, including shipping lithium-ion batteries through the Port of Charleston and to South Carolina businesses with the expectation that these products be sold in South Carolina. (R. pp. 18–19 ¶¶ 9-10, 184–242, 243, 292–386.) In response to LG’s motion challenging jurisdiction, Fleming supplied the circuit court with shipping records evidencing large shipments by LG of “lithium-ion” batteries to South Carolina entities. (R. pp. 184–242, 243, 292–386). LG does not dispute that it serves a market for lithium-ion batteries here or that it shipped 18650 lithium-ion batteries here. Instead, LG is careful to say only that it did not place 18650 rechargeable lithium-

ion batteries into the stream of commerce “for use as standalone, replaceable batteries.” *See e.g.* (R. pp. 30-31, 37-38, 46-48, 53, 57, 60-63, 64, 396-98, 410-11, 415-16, 436-41, 443-44 446-47, 456-57).

Fleming alleged a number of jurisdictional facts related to LG’s purposeful availment of South Carolina law related not only to its sale / distribution of lithium-ion battery products here. (R. pp. 18–19 ¶¶ 9-10.) Importantly, LG by and large does not dispute these allegations. Anticipating, LG’s argument, Fleming also alleged that “LG has known since 2016 that individuals use LG’s lithium ion battery products to power devices such as flashlights and personal vaporizing devices” and that “[a]rmed with that awareness, LG has done virtually nothing to prevent its lithium ion battery products from being sold individually throughout the U.S. and, specifically, in South Carolina.” (R. p.19 ¶ 10(d)). Fleming also alleged a specific negligence action against LG for its breach of its duty to monitor its supply chain and to protect consumers from what it claims is an authorized misuse of its lithium-ion battery products. (R. pp. 24-28 ¶¶ 49-61.)

When Fleming filed his complaint, South Carolina circuit courts had already denied LG’s motions to dismiss for personal jurisdiction in five other similar lithium-ion battery explosion cases. (R. pp. 19-20 ¶ 11.) Fleming submitted these opinions from South Carolina circuit courts in LG lithium-ion battery cases where LG lost motions to dismiss for lack of specific jurisdiction. *See e.g., Williamson v. Pirates Cove Vapor Lounge, LLC, et. al*, 2019-CP-07-02270 (June 21, 2021), (R. pp. 256-65); *Holtzendorff v. Vapor Tek USA, LLC, and LG Chem Ltd.*, 2018-CP-0201518 (May 6, 2020), (R. pp. 266-67); *Roberts v. Planet Vape, LLC, et. al*, 2020-CP-10-00912 (Dec. 17, 2020), (R. pp. 268-70).

LG argued to the circuit court that Fleming is required to show LG imported and sold a size 18650 lithium-ion battery for sale to a consumer. (R. p.549, line 8-p.550, line 9.) Fleming

responded that LG’s position improperly injects intended-use arguments and distribution-chain control into the jurisdictional analysis where it does not belong. *See* (R. p.566, line 8-p.567, line 17.) In addition, Fleming argued that drawing an artificial distinction between 18650 sized lithium-ion batteries and other different sized lithium-ion batteries “would be like ... drawing a distinction between light cigarettes and ultra light cigarettes.” (R. p. 568, lines 7-11.) Fleming’s point was straightforward: LG serves the South Carolina market for lithium-ion batteries; Fleming bought an LG battery here; and it exploded causing him permanent injuries. (R. pp. 568–70.) Fleming supplied evidence that LG made over fifty shipments of lithium-ion batteries into South Carolina and that while those records lack size specificity, they clearly show shipments by LG to South Carolina of “LITHIUM ION BATTERY.” (R. pp. 184–242, 243, 292–386.)

In the unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals panel affirmed, holding Fleming “did not plead any jurisdictional facts specific to the particular product at issue here— a 18650 lithium-ion cell that was re-sold as a standalone consumer battery,” and that he “did not plead any facts showing a connection between his claims and any action of [LG] directed to South Carolina.” (Op. at pp.2–3.). It further concluded that, even considering the parties’ affidavits and Fleming’s “voluminous exhibits,” “[n]one of the facts” supported jurisdiction, including an asserted lack of evidence “reflecting shipment of 18650 lithium-ion cells to anyone in South Carolina, let alone anyone engaged in the consumer vaping industry.” (Op. at pp.2–3.) The majority accepted LG’s argument that the shipments of other lithium-ion batteries were “unrelated business” and found Fleming could not establish minimum contacts. (Op. at pp.5–6.) This was error on its face given the facts are to be weighed in the light most favorable to Fleming at this stage.

Judge Hewitt dissented concluding the complaint “sufficiently alleges facts that support specific personal jurisdiction.” (Op. at p.7.) Importantly, the dissent notes that LG “has not denied

that it placed this battery in the stream of commerce, that it regularly does business in South Carolina, or even that it distributes this type of battery with the reasonable expectation that the batteries will be used in this way in South Carolina.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

LG does not deny that it placed this battery in the stream of commerce, that it regularly does business in South Carolina, or that it distributed this type of battery with the knowledge that the batteries were being used in the way Fleming alleged in South Carolina. Despite LG’s substantial contacts here, the Court of Appeals’ effectively shields LG from suits by South Carolina citizens harmed by LG’s products, compelling our citizens to go to South Korea to seek recourse. In doing so, the Court of Appeals adopts the causation analysis rejected by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351 (2021). The Court of Appeals’ decision requires a consumer plaintiff to show that the manufacturer brought the battery here for a discrete consumer use. That is far too narrow an inquiry, particularly where, as here, LG benefits from distributing the same product in South Carolina just for a different market.

The Court should grant the petition because substantial constitutional issues are involved, the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with both *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351 (2021) and this Court’s decision in *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), and there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR.

I. Fleming did establish a prima facie showing of specific jurisdiction.

As observed by the Judge Hewitt:

The complaint alleges that LG Chem's pervasive activities in the lithium-ion battery industry are such that it should reasonably anticipate being sued in this sort of case in South Carolina. As I read the filings, LG Chem has not denied that it placed this battery in the stream of commerce, that it regularly does business in South Carolina, or even that it distributes this type of battery with the reasonable expectation that the batteries will be used in this way in South Carolina.

(Op. p. 7).

The Court of Appeals nevertheless affirmed dismissal of Fleming's complaint at the pleading stage by holding that Fleming "did not plead any jurisdictional facts specific to the particular product at issue here—a 18650 lithium[-]ion cell that was re-sold as a standalone consumer battery," and that he "did not plead any facts showing a connection between his claims and any action of [LG] directed to South Carolina." (Op. pp. 2–3.) The majority also declared that "even when looking at the evidence submitted by the parties, including LG's affidavits and Appellant's affidavit and 'voluminous exhibits,' '[n]one of the facts'" supported jurisdiction, citing an asserted lack of evidence "reflecting shipment of 18650 lithium[-]ion cells to anyone in South Carolina, let alone anyone engaged in the consumer vaping industry." (Op. p. 3.)

Although the panel acknowledged the rule that "[o]n a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, factual disputes arising by affidavit will be resolved in favor of the non-moving party," it ignored Fleming's allegations regarding LG's negligence in failing to ensure these batteries were not put to this allegedly unauthorized use here. (Op. pp. 2-3) Fleming's allegations that the Court had specific jurisdiction over LG coupled with supported jurisdictional facts showing LG's purposeful South Carolina contacts and a nexus to his claims—including South Carolina purchase and injury, LG's regular lithium-ion battery commerce in South Carolina, and LG's knowledge of consumer use in vaping devices—when taken as true with any factual disputes resolved in Fleming's favor, make out a prima facie showing of specific jurisdiction. . (R. pp. 17–29.)

The Court of Appeals panel misapplied the specific jurisdiction prongs by requiring Fleming to make a showing that LG purposefully sold and distributed these 18650 batteries *as standalone consumer products*. (Op. pp. 2-5.) That is not what is required to determine whether the circuit court’s exercise of specific jurisdiction is proper, and underscores why this Court’s review is needed.

As noted by Judge Hewitt, there have been a number of courts faced with this same issue. *See, e.g., Sullivan v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 79 F.4th 651, 670 (6th Cir. 2023); *LG Chem Am., Inc. v. Morgan*, 670 S.W.3d 341, 343–44 (Tex. 2023); *Dilworth v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 355 So. 3d 201, 210–11 (Miss. 2022); *LG Chem, Ltd. v. Lemmerman*, 361 Ga. App. 163, 863 S.E.2d 514 (2021); *see also Ethridge v. Samsung SDI Co., Ltd.*, 137 F.4th 309, 319 (5th Cir. 2025). While some courts have come to a different conclusion, those exercising jurisdiction on similar facts are comfortable in doing so because the manufacturers are taking advantage of the state’s business markets. That is sufficient for the companies to anticipate suit in the forum state for a consumer’s unintended use of the products. South Carolina has a strong interest in providing a forum for its injured citizens. Here, Fleming sufficiently set forth a prima facie showing of the Court’s personal jurisdiction over LG.

II. The decision conflicts with *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351 (2021).

In *Ford*, the U.S. Supreme Court rejected a “causation-only approach” to the requirement of a relationship between a defendant’s forum activities and the plaintiff’s suit. *See Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court*, 592 U.S. 351, 361-62 (2021) (“None of our precedents has suggested that only a strict causal relationship between the defendant's in-state activity and the litigation will do.”). Despite this rejection, the Court of Appeals engaged in the same rejected analysis, requiring Fleming to show that LG directed batteries to South Carolina for

a discrete purpose – for sale to consumers as a standalone battery for vaping devices. By framing the issue so narrowly, the Court of Appeals’ ruling means South Carolina courts could only exercise personal jurisdiction over LG for an injured South Carolina-consumer’s claim where the injury is from one of LG’s products that LG intended for the consumer market, even if LG distributes the same product within the forum state for a different market. *Ford* asks whether the defendant “systematically served a market” in the forum—not whether the defendant blessed the end use. *See Ford Motor Co.*, 592 U.S. at 365-366.

Here, there was significant evidence of LG’s South Carolina market activities. As pointed out by the dissent, LG did not deny that it placed lithium-ion batteries into the stream of commerce within South Carolina, that it transacted substantial lithium-ion battery related business within South Carolina, or that it distributed the exact type of battery at issue within South Carolina. *See* (Op. p.6.) Nor did LG deny knowledge that its batteries were being used here in this way. LG denies only that it distributed these batteries in South Carolina *for a particular market or use*, as a standalone or individual battery. (R. pp. 37-38). But this is of no moment for purposes of the jurisdictional analysis. “[W]hen a corporation has continuously and deliberately exploited [a State’s] market, it must reasonably anticipate being haled into [that State’s] court[s] to defend actions based on products causing injury there.” *Ford Motor Co.*, 592 U.S. at 364, 141 S. Ct. at 1027 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

The Court of Appeals accepted LG’s argument that Fleming is required to show that LG specifically targeted the consumer market for standalone 18650 batteries in South Carolina. But that is the same causation analysis rejected by *Ford*, spurning the argument that a plaintiff must prove its claim “came about because of the defendant’s in-state conduct.” *Id.* at 362, 141 S.Ct. at 1026. The majority focuses almost exclusively on what it describes as a lack of evidence that

Respondent “served a consumer standalone market” for lithium-ion batteries, with little consideration to Respondent’s substantial in-state contacts involving lithium-ion battery sales and shipments. (Op. p. 4) The Court of Appeals dismisses LG’s substantial lithium-ion battery contacts as “unrelated business activities,” ignoring the fact that LG does not deny it distributed 18650 lithium-ion batteries here for other purposes. In doing so, the Court of Appeals erroneously resolved factual disputes in favor of LG, rather than Fleming as the nonmoving party.

The majority also appears to place import on its observation that it “was third-parties that supplied [Appellant] with the batteries at issue.” (Op. at 4.) However, the same was true in *Ford* – both vehicles were brought into Montana and Minnesota by third parties. *See Ford Motor Co.*, 592 U.S. at 366, 141 S.Ct. at 1029. But that did not prevent the exercise of personal jurisdiction in *Ford*. Nor does it in South Carolina. *See NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. at 90, 666 S.E.2d at 223 (finding minimum contacts existed “[r]egardless of how the [product] arrived in South Carolina” due to forum contacts sufficient enough that defendant could reasonably anticipate suit in South Carolina). The *Ford* court found jurisdiction was appropriate based on Ford’s “systematically servi[ng] a market” for its products in those states. *Ford Motor Co.*, 592 U.S. at 365, 141 S.Ct. at 1028. Here, Respondent does not deny systematically serving a market in South Carolina for lithium-ion battery products. And, importantly, Respondent does not deny serving a market here for its 18650 lithium-ion batteries. It only denies serving a standalone consumer battery market.

The majority overlooks these important distinctions, views them in the light most favorable to Respondent, and fails to analyze whether Respondent’s substantial contacts in South Carolina “are related enough to the plaintiff’s suit.” *Id.* at 371, 141 S.Ct. at 1031. The relatedness test only requires that the “relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation” is close enough

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