RECEIVED

Nov 10 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Unpublished Op. No. 2025-UP-295 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 13, 2025)
Appellate Case No. 2022-000346

Reid Fleming..... Petitioner,

v.

The Planet Vape, LLC; SCECIGARETTE, LLC; LG
Chem, Ltd.; John Doe Distributor #1; John Doe
Distributor #2; and John Doe Distributor #3 Defendants,

Of which LG Chem, Ltd. is the..... Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. Mitchell Brown
Rachel Atkin Hedley
A. Mattison Bogan
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street/17th Floor

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of LG Chem for lack of personal jurisdiction, and Fleming presents no grounds warranting certiorari. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR.

The essence of Fleming's appeal was the question whether his vague and conclusory allegations were sufficient to establish personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant manufacturer. Fleming asked the circuit court to go beyond the pleadings and consider evidence he himself offered, then challenged that decision on appeal when the evidence undermined his arguments. The outcome in this case turned on a fact-specific analysis of Fleming's allegations and the evidence submitted to the circuit court, and none of the criteria for certiorari review is satisfied here.

First, Fleming pled no facts and offered no evidence to meet his burden of proving that his claims were related to forum-specific conduct of LG Chem, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the circuit court's conclusion that Fleming failed to establish a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction over LG Chem. Second, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the relatedness standard articulated in *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial District Court* when affirming the circuit court's conclusion that Fleming's claims did not arise out of or relate to any forum-specific conduct of LG Chem, and there is no conflict. Third, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the circuit court's finding that the facts of this case are readily distinguishable from *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, and there is no conflict. Finally, because Fleming failed to satisfy the power prong of the specific jurisdiction analysis, the Court of Appeals correctly found that it need not reach the fairness prong.

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE CIRCUIT COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT FLEMING FAILED TO ESTABLISH A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the circuit court's conclusion that Fleming did not establish a prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction because he pled no jurisdictional facts and offered no evidence to support his conclusory assertion that his claims were "related" to forum-specific conduct of LG Chem. (COA Op. at 3.)

A. The Court of Appeals correctly found that Fleming's allegations and evidence were not sufficient to meet his burden of proof.

Fleming cites to the dissent's interpretation of the pleadings to support his argument that his allegations, alone, were sufficient to support his burden of proof. (Pet. at 6-7.)

However, as the circuit court correctly found, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed, Fleming's Complaint made no mention of 18650 lithium-ion batteries, even though he later acknowledged that this is the type of product allegedly at issue in this suit. His Complaint also did

not plead any facts to support his conclusory assertion that his claims were “related” to forum-specific conduct by the defendant. And, although he asked the circuit court to go beyond the pleadings and consider evidence to decide LG Chem’s motion to dismiss, Fleming offered no evidence to (1) contradict LG Chem’s evidence that it never designed, manufactured, distributed, advertised, or sold 18650 lithium-ion battery cells for sale to consumers as standalone, replaceable batteries in South Carolina, or anywhere else or (2) show that LG Chem was distributing 18650 lithium-ion cells to consumers in the state (either directly or through a subsidiary).

The circuit court correctly found, and the Court of Appeals correctly agreed, that Fleming did not make any specific allegations that would show either contacts of LG Chem with South Carolina related to the particular product at issue in this case or how those contacts might possibly relate to Fleming’s claims in this case. (R. p. 6; COA Op. at p. 1).

And once Fleming asked the circuit court to consider extrinsic evidence, and that evidence further supported LG Chem’s defense, it would have been error for the circuit court to decide that vague and conclusory allegations in Fleming’s complaint were enough to meet his burden of proof, particularly when, as the circuit court found, and the Court of Appeals agreed, the evidence submitted by the parties, including LG Chem’s affidavits and Fleming’s affidavit and voluminous exhibits, did not reflect shipment of 18650 lithium-ion cells to anyone in South Carolina, let alone anyone engaged in the consumer vaping industry. (R. p. 7-8; COA Op. at p. 1-2).

B. Fleming’s reliance on a handful of out-of-state decisions cited in the dissent does not support review.

Referencing the dissent, Fleming contends that other courts exercising jurisdiction “on similar facts” are “comfortable” doing so “because the manufacturers are taking advantage of the state’s business markets.” (Pet. at 8). That analysis is flawed for two reasons.

First, it runs directly contrary to established precedents to conclude that a manufacturer is subject to specific jurisdiction simply because it does business in the state. *Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 n.6 (2011) (recognizing that “even regularly occurring sales of a product in a State do not justify the exercise of jurisdiction over a claim unrelated to those sales”); *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, 582 U.S. 255, 264, 137 S.Ct. 1773, 1781 (2021) (“When there is no such connection, specific jurisdiction is lacking regardless of the extent of the defendant’s unconnected activities in the State.”); *Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 592 U.S. 351, 365, 141 S. Ct. 1017, 1028 (2021) (relatedness does not mean “anything goes”; the claims at issue must be related to the defendant’s own business activities in the state for the particular product at issue).

Second, Fleming’s argument depends on a mischaracterization of the facts here and misplaced reliance on the out-of-state cases cited in the dissent. In those cases, the courts concluded that LG Chem did not rebut those plaintiffs’ allegations that LG Chem extensively shipped 18650 lithium-ion cells⁵ into the forum state and that this was sufficient to satisfy constitutional due process at the *prima facie* stage. Although LG Chem disagrees with the analysis in those cases, it is an important distinction here because Fleming did *not* allege that LG Chem was shipping extensive quantities of 18650 cells to South Carolina and because Fleming’s own evidence undermined any attempt to argue that he had.

In addition, Fleming does not address the many cases that have found personal jurisdiction lacking over LG Chem in cases involving claims of injury from use of an 18650 lithium-ion battery cell as a standalone battery with a vaping device, *regardless* of whether LG Chem shipped 18650 cells to industrial customers (never consumers) in the forum state. *See, e.g., Quiniones v. LG*

⁵ Those cases specifically relied on allegations of business activities for 18650 lithium-ion battery cells, not “lithium-ion battery products” generally.

Chem, Ltd., No. 23-15941, 2024 WL 4678053 (9th Cir. Nov. 5, 2024) (unpublished) (affirming dismissal of LG Chem for lack of personal jurisdiction in California where LG Chem sold 18650 cells to battery packer and equipment manufacturer); *Yamashita v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, 62 F.4th 496 (9th Cir. 2023) (concluding that, even if LG Chem had sold 18650 batteries to manufacturers for incorporation in consumer products sold in Hawaii, “these sales would not be related to purchases of stand-alone batteries by Hawaii consumers”); *LG Chem, Ltd. v. Superior Ct. of San Diego Cnty. (Lawhon)*, 80 Cal. App. 5th 348, 295 Cal. Rptr. 3d 661 (2022); *Kadow v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, No. B309854, 2021 WL 5935657 (Cal. Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2021), *review denied* (Mar. 30, 2022); *see also State ex rel. LG Chem, Ltd. v. McLaughlin*, 599 S.W.3d 899 (Mo. 2020); *Eriksen v. ECX, LLC, et al.*, No. 79473-I, 2020 WL 6395534 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 2, 2020) (unpublished).⁶

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE CIRCUIT COURT’S APPLICATION OF *FORD*’S RELATED-NESS STANDARD, AND THERE IS NO CONFLICT.

Fleming argues that the Court of Appeals applied the “causation-only” approach rejected in *Ford* and failed to consider what Petitioner describes as “substantial in-state contacts involving lithium-ion battery sales and shipments.” (Pet. 8-11.)

In *Ford*, the U.S. Supreme Court reiterated that, to satisfy due process for specific jurisdiction, the plaintiff’s claim “must arise out of or relate to the defendant’s contacts with the forum.” 592 U.S. at 359, 141 S. Ct. at 1025. The *Ford* court further reiterated that the specific jurisdiction analysis must focus on the extent and nature of the defendant’s own conduct directed

⁶ *See also Richter v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, No. 18-CV-50360, 2022 WL 5240583 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 27, 2022); *Straight v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, No. 2:20-CV-6551, 2022 WL 16836722 (S.D. Ohio Nov. 9, 2022); *Grizzard v. LG Chem Ltd.*, No. 2:21CV469, 2022 WL 17076706, at *7 (E.D. Va. Nov. 18, 2022); *Matter of Am. River Transp. Co., LLC (ARTCO)*, No. CV 18-2186, 2022 WL 17325899, at *7 (E.D. La. Nov. 29, 2022); *Huntington v. Smoke City for Less LLC*, No. 4:22-CV-05014-MKD, 2023 WL 2996729, at *8 (E.D. Wash. Apr. 18, 2023); *Heit v. LG Chem, Ltd.*, No. 21-CV-00771-HFS, 2023 WL 1928289 (W.D. Mo. Feb. 10, 2023); *Mehl v. LG Chem Ltd.*, No. 6:21-CV-01149-AA, 2022 WL 3595089 (D. Or. Aug. 23, 2022), *amended on reconsideration*, No. 6:21-CV-01149-AA, 2023 WL 6200288 (D. Or. Sept. 22, 2023), *appeal docketed*, No. 23-3943 (9th Cir. Dec. 5, 2023); *Bullock v. Otto Imports, LLC*, No. 4:19-CV-149-BJB, 2022 WL 949914 (W.D. Ky. Mar. 29, 2022).

to the forum state and the degree to which that conduct is related or connected to the plaintiff's claims. *Id.* at 1027–28. Finally, the *Ford* court made clear that its decision did not mean “anything goes.” Instead:

In the sphere of specific jurisdiction, the phrase ‘relate to’ incorporates real limits, as it must to adequately protect defendants foreign to a forum.

Ford, 592 U.S. at 362, 141 S. Ct. at 1026.

In *Ford*, the Supreme Court found personal jurisdiction existed over Ford Motor Company in the forum states at issue based on its extensive in-state consumer-directed activities for the specific products at issue. Ford conceded both that it purposefully availed itself of the privilege of doing business in the forum states *and* that it served a consumer market in the forum states for the very vehicles at issue. The facts of this case are not like *Ford*.

The Court of Appeals properly considered and applied the *Ford* standard when affirming the circuit court's decision, based upon uncontroverted evidence in the record, that LG Chem's in-state activities were not sufficiently related to Fleming's claims to satisfy due process. Fleming's insistence that LG Chem did not deny doing “substantial battery related business” misstates the record. In fact, Fleming did not plead any jurisdictional facts specific to the particular product at issue in this suit – a 18650 lithium-ion battery cell that was re-sold as a consumer battery, as the circuit court correctly found. (R. p. 6). Further, the evidence that Fleming himself offered and asked the circuit court to consider undermines his argument that LG Chem was conducting substantial battery business in the state related to his claims. (R. pp. 545-46, 574; 440; 274).

As the circuit court correctly found, at best, Fleming's evidence, if admissible, would show only that LG Chem directed unrelated business activities to South Carolina entities, including shipment of petrochemical products such as “methyl acrylate,” “acrylic acid,” and “synthetic rubber,” as well as shipment of electric vehicle batteries to car manufacturing companies. (R. p.

___ - circuit court at 6) None of Fleming’s exhibits reflect shipments of 18650 lithium-ion cells to anyone in South Carolina, let alone anyone engaged in the consumer vaping industry. (*Id.*)

In *Ford*, the Supreme Court found the exercise of personal jurisdiction over Ford satisfied due process when a consumer plaintiff asserted product liability claims based on use of a Ford vehicle that had arrived in the forum state (where the accident occurred) as the result of consumer relocations and resales, and was not designed, manufactured, or sold in the forum by Ford.

Although Ford did not bring the specific vehicles to the forum states, Ford itself admittedly engaged in extensive and wide-ranging activities in the forum state in furtherance of its undisputed intention to serve a consumer market for the very same type of vehicles at issue. It was Ford, not unauthorized third parties, that supplied consumers in Minnesota and Montana with Ford vehicles (and specifically Explorers and Crown Victorias – the vehicles at issue in the underlying cases). *Ford*, 592 U.S. at 365, 141 S. Ct. at 1028. It was Ford, not unauthorized third parties, that advertised those vehicles to in-state consumers on TV and billboards and by “every means imaginable.” *Id.* And it was Ford that licensed dealers to sell, maintain, and repair Ford cars in Minnesota and Montana. *Id.* Thus, Ford had “a veritable truckload” of relevant, suit-related contacts with Minnesota and Montana. *Id.* at 371, 141 S. Ct. at 1031.

The U.S. Supreme Court found that Ford’s widespread activities directed to the consumer auto market in the forum states (such as billboards, TV and radio spots, print ads, direct mail, and local dealer repair services and sale of replacement parts) established the necessary connection between the consumers’ claims and Ford’s state-directed activities involving those same kinds of motor vehicles. *Id.* at 365, 141 S. Ct. at 1028. In reaching that conclusion, the *Ford* court was careful to note that Ford’s admitted, extensive in-state consumer-directed business activities involved the specific cars at issue – Ford Explorers and Crown Victorias.

No such facts are present here. There were no retailers licensed by LG Chem to supply LG lithium-ion battery cells directly to consumers. There were no dealers authorized by LG Chem to repair or replace lithium-ion battery cells for consumers. There were no TV or billboards or other advertisements whereby LG Chem “urged” consumers to purchase lithium-ion battery cells as standalone, replaceable batteries for any purpose. And Fleming himself did not allege otherwise; in fact, Fleming alleged that LG Chem *failed to prevent* others from providing consumers in South Carolina with lithium-ion battery cells for use as standalone, replaceable batteries.

Under these precedents, it *does* matter how products of the type at issue arrive in the state. In *Ford*, there was specific jurisdiction despite Ford not having brought the particular car at issue into the state. But Ford conceded that it extensively served consumer markets in the forum states for the exact same types of cars at issue – Ford Explorers and Crown Victorias. Even though the specific cars at issue did not arrive in the forum for purchase by consumers through Ford’s actions, it was undisputed that numerous other cars (of the same type) did. Thus, the U.S. Supreme Court rejected Ford’s causation-only argument.

But here, by contrast, it is true *not only* that the particular 18650 lithium-ion cell at issue in this case (if LG Chem even manufactured it, which was never established) arrived in South Carolina through the unilateral actions of third parties *but also* that *any* 18650 lithium ion cell that arrived in any vape store or other retailer in South Carolina for sale to a consumer as a standalone battery can only have done so through the unilateral actions of third parties, and not resulting from or related to any conduct LG Chem directed here.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that any connections that exist between South Carolina and this lawsuit were formed entirely by Fleming and other third parties—not by LG Chem—and that the related-ness standard articulated in *Ford* was not satisfied.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY AFFIRMED THE CIRCUIT COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT THE FACTS OF THIS CASE DISTINGUISH IT FROM SUMATRA, AND THERE IS NO CONFLICT.

Fleming argued to the Court of Appeals that, under *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 666 S.E.2d 218 (2008), allegations that a defendant manufactured a product outside the state and expected that it would be distributed or misused by others in South Carolina are sufficient to support the exercise of jurisdiction “regardless of how [the battery cells] arrived in South Carolina.” (Appellant’s Initial Br. at 22.)

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